

SPICe Briefing
Pàipear-ullachaidh SPICe

Economic development in Scotland

Alison O'Connor and Simon Wakefield

The briefing provides an overview of economic development in Scotland. It looks at the main organisations involved in delivering economic development activities, the direction of economic development strategy, and current economic development programmes in Scotland.



Contents

Summary	
What do we mean by economic development?	6
Scotland's economic development actors	7
Some context on economic development responsibilities	7
Economic development and enterprise agencies	8
Scottish Enterprise	8
Highlands and Islands Enterprise	
South of Scotland Enterprise	10
Local government	11
Indicator Framework	11
Budget	12
Business Gateway	13
Regional Economic Partnerships	14
Scottish National Investment Bank	15
Skills Development Scotland	15
Other economic development partners	15
Measuring performance	16
Still a cluttered landscape?	17
Economic development strategy in Scotland – is there one?	19
Looking back – 22 years of economic strategies	19
Trends in policy	20
Current focus	21
A more regional approach?	25
Frictions or synergies in strategy?	26
Funding Programmes	28
European Structural Funds	28
Shared Prosperity Fund	28
How much funding will be available?	29
How will the devolved administrations be involved?	29
Some issues and questions	30
The Community Renewal Fund	32
How will the CRF be allocated?	32
How was the index to identify the 100 Priority Places created?	32
What is the bidding process?	33

Levelling Up Fund	33
How much?	34
Who is involved?	
What projects will be funded?	
Which areas will receive funding?	34
Green Ports (the proposed Scottish version of Freeports)	35
City and Regional Growth Deals	37
Enterprise Areas	39
Other Programmes	40
Green Jobs Fund	
National Manufacturing Institute	41
Women's Business Centre	42
Technology hubs (or Tech Scalars)	42
Bibliography	44

Summary

What is economic development?

There is no single agreed definition of economic development, but it can include targeted investment in, and running of, infrastructure, investment in skills and training, and support for marketing, promotion and network building. These interventions can have various purposes, including improving productivity, encouraging 'greener' activity, supporting innovation, generating more exports, promoting start-ups, encouraging inward investment, and getting people into good quality jobs.

The Scotland Act of 1998 established the Scottish Parliament, giving Scotland control over devolved areas such as health, education, justice, transport, local government and economic development.

Scotland's economic development actors

The key economic development actors in Scotland include:

- · Scottish Enterprise
- · Highlands and Islands Enterprise
- · South of Scotland Enterprise
- Local government
- Regional Economic Partnerships
- Scottish National Investment Bank
- Skills Development Scotland.

Issues in measurement and a cluttered landscape?

Measuring the activities of the publicly funded economic development agencies against the Scottish Government's budget and intended outcomes has been an ongoing challenge for parliamentary scrutiny. Over 20 years ago in 1999, there were concerns around this matter from a parliamentary committee, and despite the passing of time, a 2021 legacy report from a parliamentary committee concluded similar.

A 'cluttered landscape' has been something of a recurring theme when in it comes to economic development in Scotland. Over the last six years, we have seen some attempts at rethinking the 'enterprise and skills' landscape in Scotland, via the activities of the Enterprise and Skills Strategic Board. But the question is whether this has achieved the change that was originally anticipated, as some would argue the landscape is still cluttered.

Economic development strategy in Scotland – is there one?

There is no agreed definition of economic development activity, as already highlighted. However, since devolution in 1999, the Scottish Executive/Scottish Government has had some form of economic development strategy - Scotland's earlier strategies were framed

as economic development strategies but more recently just tend to be called economic strategies.

The first strategy, following devolution, started out as direction for the enterprise networks. Successive strategies gradually tackled wider social challenges and offered direction for the wider public sector, eventually arriving at the "One Scotland Approach" in the 2015 Strategy.

Over the last two decades, Scotland's economic policy landscape has evolved from a narrow enterprise agency approach to a wider whole government approach. While there is merit to this more holistic approach to economic policy, it has weakened accountability, and makes evaluating what actually works all the more difficult. There have been no formal procedures in place to form an overall assessment of the success of successive economic strategies.

Funding programmes

This briefing details some of the key funding programmes, which support economic development in Scotland. These include EU Structural funds, and their proposed replacements, this year, the Community Renewal Fund, and next year, the Shared Prosperity Fund, as well as the (UK wide) Levelling Up fund. It also provides some details on:

- Green Ports (the proposed Scottish version of Freeports)
- · City and Regional Growth Deals
- enterprise areas
- and some other programmes such as the Green Jobs Fund, the National Manufacturing Institute, and a Women's Business Centre.

Frictions or synergies in strategy?

This briefing outlines a constant process of reorganising and rescaling governance arrangements across the economic development landscape over the last two decades in Scotland. This has been shaped by actors at local, Scotlish and UK levels. This briefing asks whether this results in frictions or synergies for different places within Scotland to pursue economic development.

The overview of key funding interventions currently in delivery or planning across Scotland's economic development landscape illustrates the varying policy levers that both the Scottish and UK Governments are pursuing, which are not always fully aligned. The economic development landscape is complex and this complexity isn't necessarily helped by the varying intentions of different public sector actors.

What do we mean by economic development?

There is no single agreed definition of economic development (for example see Audit Scotland 2016 ¹) but it certainly covers a wide range of "supply side" programmes. These are government policies to increase productivity and increase efficiency in the economy, which increase aggregate supply enabling higher economic growth in the long-run. These can include targeted investment in, and running of, infrastructure, investment in skills and training, and support for marketing, promotion and network building. These interventions can have various purposes, including improving productivity, encouraging 'greener' activity, supporting innovation, generating more exports, promoting start-ups, encouraging inward investment, and getting people into good quality jobs.

It does not generally include measures to manage the economy such as fiscal policy (changes to tax, spending and borrowing), monetary policy (such as setting interest rates), or other regulatory measures (for example on price capping, environmental or safety standards, or labour market conditions).

The Scotland Act of 1998 established the Scottish Parliament, giving Scotland control over devolved areas such as health, education, justice, transport, local government and economic development. The Act identifies fiscal, economic, and monetary policy as being reserved.

"Fiscal, economic and monetary policy, including the issue and circulation of money, taxes and excise duties, government borrowing and lending, control over United Kingdom public expenditure, the exchange rate and the Bank of England."

The 1998 Act does not reserve giving financial assistance to commercial activities for the purpose of promoting or sustaining economic development or employment. However, here it is worth highlighting that the UK Internal Market Act 2020 now specifically allows UK Ministers to intervene in economic development matters.

"Power to provide financial assistance for economic development etc (1)A Minister of the Crown may, out of money provided by Parliament, provide financial assistance to any person for, or in connection with, any of the following purposes—(a)promoting economic development in the United Kingdom or any area of the United Kingdom; (b)providing infrastructure at places in the United Kingdom (including infrastructure in connection with any of the other purposes mentioned in this section); (c)supporting cultural activities, projects and events that the Minister considers directly or indirectly benefit the United Kingdom or particular areas of the United Kingdom; (d)supporting activities, projects and events relating to sport that the Minister considers directly or indirectly benefit the United Kingdom or particular areas of the United Kingdom; (e)supporting international educational and training activities and exchanges; (f)supporting educational and training activities and exchanges within the United Kingdom."

Scotland's economic development actors

This chapter looks in detail at the current key economic development actors in Scotland. These include:

- Scottish Enterprise
- · Highlands and Islands Enterprise
- · South of Scotland Enterprise
- · Local government
- Regional Economic Partnerships
- Scottish National Investment Bank
- · Skills Development Scotland
- Others.

However, before we explore the key organisations and partnerships, we provide some context on the background of the current economic development landscape and the key agencies. This section also explores measuring the performance of the key organisations and whether the economic development landscape is cluttered.

Some context on economic development responsibilities

While the current 32 Scottish local authorities have from their inception (1995) had some responsibility for economic development, this has been alongside the role of what was then two economic development agencies – Scottish Enterprise (SE) and Highlands and Islands Enterprise (HIE). These were established by the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990^{-2} , although their predecessors had been in existence since the 1970s and 1960s, respectively.

The Act gave both agencies the general functions of furthering the development of Scotland's economy, safeguarding employment, enhancing skills, promoting industrial efficiency and international competitiveness, and improving the business environment, with the crucial distinction that HIE had a geographic remit confined to the Highlands and Islands and additional responsibility for social development. According to a journal article on the evolution of Scottish economic development ³ the establishment of SE in particular marked a break from its predecessor (the Scottish Development Agency) which became strongly involved in a number of area-focused regeneration programmes, particularly around Glasgow.

Between 1991 and 2007, both SE and HIE were mainly operated via a decentralised structure of Local Enterprise Companies (LECs). When Business Gateway was introduced in 2003, it was also initially delivered by this network of LECs, as an extension to the Small Business Gateway. However, the then newly elected Scottish National Party (SNP) administration in 2007 embarked on a restructuring of the enterprise networks shortly after

coming to power:

- This abolished the LECs with the majority of their functions transferred upwards to the more centralised economic development agencies, although their remits for local economic development (or 'regeneration') and small business support were passed to local authorities.
- Training and skills functions became the responsibility of a new national skills agency (Skills Development Scotland).

These changes were justified by the Scottish Government ⁴ on the grounds of eliminating 'duplication and unnecessary bureaucracy' seen as resulting from the existence of 21 separate LECs, and focusing the agencies on 'their core purpose of assisting economic development in Scotland'.

According to Clelland, these reforms reduced the role of national bodies in economic development at a local level, as SE in particular became more focused on delivering the Scottish Government's national priorities.

"The impacts of this were geographically uneven, however, with the initial loss of local skills and expertise less significant where councils had strong economic development services, and national agencies retaining a key role where economic development projects related closely to national priorities such as national growth sectors. Overall the 2007 reforms can be seen as a further 'hollowing out' of the intermediate regional scale between local authority and the Scottish levels."

Since the 2007 reforms, the economic development landscape had been relatively unchanging, until the advent of the Enterprise and Skills Review in 2016, and the subsequent launches of the South of Scotland Enterprise (SOSE) and the Scottish National Investment Bank (SNIB) in 2020.

Economic development and enterprise agencies

Scotland's three economic development and enterprise agencies (Scottish Enterprise (SE), Highlands and Island Enterprise (HIE), South of Scotland Enterprise (SOSE)) deliver similar types of activity, including supporting businesses, sectors and infrastructure projects, and influencing economic development decisions. Both HIE and SOSE's distinct geography and additional remit to support communities means that their customers and rationale for support can differ to that of SE.

Scottish Enterprise

Scottish Enterprise (SE) is an executive Non-Departmental Public Body of the Scottish Government and was established under the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 ² for the purposes of furthering the development of Scotland's economy. This Act defines SE's key functions as:

- furthering the development of Scotland's economy including providing, maintaining and safeguarding employment
- promoting Scotland's industrial efficiency and international competitiveness
- furthering improvement of the environment of Scotland, including supporting

Scotland's transition to a low-carbon economy.

SE's duties are as determined by Scottish Ministers under Section 24 of the Act. A range of general and specific powers are set out in full in Section 8 of the Act.

SE's Business Plan 2021-22 ⁵ sets out the purpose, focus, and delivery activities for the period. SE's plan builds on the strategic approach set out by the Scottish Government in its response to the Advisory Group on Economic Recovery report ⁶, the Enterprise and Skills Strategic Board's Labour Market Sub Group report ⁷ and the Logan Review ⁸. It also reflects the Interim Guidance Letter issued by the then Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Fair Work and Culture.

In recent years, SE had focused their efforts on supporting a segmented group of businesses and favoured sectors. However, there has been a recent shift in the way they work with more of an emphasis on the whole economy. According to SE ⁹ this "has meant working with business to create more, quality jobs with a focus on helping reduce poverty and supporting businesses, communities and families across Scotland".

SE has £405 million of planned expenditure in 2021-22, of which £312 million will be covered via Scottish Government funding. The remainder will be covered by other business income related to property and investment funds.

Highlands and Islands Enterprise

Highlands and Islands Enterprise (HIE) is an executive non-departmental public body of the Scottish Government. HIE acts as a public agency with a statutory duty to undertake economic and social development within the Highlands and Islands of Scotland. HIE was established in 1991 in accordance with the provisions of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 ². The legislation defines HIE's key functions as:

- preparing, concerting, promoting, assisting and undertaking measures for the economic and social development of the Highlands and Islands
- enhancing skills and capacities relevant to employment in the Highlands and Islands
- furthering improvement of the environment of the Highlands and Islands.

HIE's duties are determined by Scottish Ministers under Section 24 of the Act, and a range of general and specific powers is set out in section 8.

HIE's Operating Plan 2021 ¹⁰ sets out their vision, focus, priorities, and activities for this period. The Operating Plan builds on the strategic approach set out by the Scottish Government in its response to the Advisory Group on Economic Recovery report ⁶, the Enterprise and Skills Strategic Board ⁷ and the Logan Review ⁸ and reflects the interim quidance issued by the Scottish Government in March 2021.

HIE has budgeted for spend of £68 million in 2021-22, of which the majority is funded via Scottish Government funds.

South of Scotland Enterprise

South of Scotland Enterprise (also known as SOSE) launched officially on 1 April 2020 as the new Economic and Community Development Agency for Dumfries and Galloway and Scottish Borders.

The creation of this new agency with the ability to 'do things differently' was presented as a response ¹¹ to the 'unique challenges' faced by the region – an implicit acknowledgement that the approaches common to many economic development interventions may be less appropriate to rural regions ¹². In the South of Scotland, this has been manifested in a perception that the area was disadvantaged relative to the Highlands and Islands by the lack of an agency with a broader community development remit like HIE, and a more general feeling that the South did not enjoy the same level of national profile and resources as the Highlands despite facing similar challenges of rurality and remoteness

The South of Scotland Enterprise Act 2019 ¹³ was passed by the Scottish Parliament in June 2019 and provides the legal framework. The Act states that SOSE activities may involve taking action directed towards a wide variety of aims. Amongst those mentioned include:

- · supporting inclusive and sustainable economic growth
- providing, maintaining and safeguarding employment
- · increasing the number of residents in the South of Scotland who are of working age
- enhancing skills and capacities relevant to employment
- supporting inclusive business models (such as social enterprises and co-operatives of any kind)
- promoting digital connectivity
- · supporting the transition to net-zero
- · promoting improved transport services and infrastructure
- supporting communities to help them meet their needs
- maintaining, protecting and enhancing the natural and cultural heritage and environmental quality of the South of Scotland.

It is worth noting in terms of the aims of SOSE that some fall within the remits of other organisations. For example those relating to skills enhancement and business start-ups have been important functions of Skills Development Scotland and local authorities, respectively, since 2008. The inclusion of these aims within the Act underlines the fact that a number of other public bodies operating in the south, not just Scottish Enterprise, were impacted by the creation of the SOSE.

The SOSE Operating Plan 2021-22 ¹⁴ provides details on the agency's priorities for the period. Legislation requires SOSE to publish an Action Plan setting out in detail how it intends to achieve its twin aims of "furthering the sustainable economic and social development of the south of Scotland" and "improving the amenity and environment of the south of Scotland". Given the priority of the need to support businesses through the

COVID-19 pandemic, the decision was made to defer production of the first Action Plan by a year to March 2022.

SOSE planned expenditure for 2021-22 is £33.2 million, the majority of which is funded by the Scottish Government.

Local government

Scotland's 32 local authorities play an important role in economic development. In partnership with organisations across all sectors, local authorities will often have economic development plans and work to maximise economic benefits through their strategies, decision making, investment and services.

Local authorities in Scotland have direct responsibilities for the delivery of business advice and support services, mainly via Business Gateway, and for local economic development, including employability services and local area regeneration. They are also responsible for a wider range of services and functions which impact directly on the growth of the economy, including:

- planning, roads and transport, environmental health, education and childcare, events and tourism, community development and culture and leisure services
- the delivery of City and Growth Deals and the development of broader regional economic partnerships
- developing strong linkages between economic development and wider priorities in Scotland at national and local levels such as addressing inequalities, child poverty, connectivity, climate change and improving outcomes
- contributing to the delivery of a range of national performance framework outcomes, including 'we have a globally competitive, entrepreneurial, inclusive and sustainable economy' and 'we have a thriving and innovative businesses, with quality jobs and fair work for everyone'.

The Scottish Local Authorities Economic Development Group (SLAED) is a network of senior officials from economic development teams across all Scottish local authorities. The SLAED Strategic Plan ¹⁵ demonstrates the collective weight of councils' contribution to the sector - employing some 1,200 economic development staff, supporting over 14,000 businesses each year and assisting around 16,500 people into jobs annually.

Indicator Framework

The SLAED Indicators Framework ¹⁶ was designed to provide consistent data and evidence on what councils throughout Scotland are delivering as local economic development organisations. SLAED highlight in considering a consistent set of indicators for local authorities it is important to be aware of the different economic circumstances of individual areas. Accordingly, the challenges, opportunities and responses will also be different across councils. Councils do not deliver exactly the same economic development activities, therefore direct comparisons of delivery and performance can be difficult to make.

There are currently 31 indicators included within the SLAED Indicators Framework and

these are classified into five broad categories: Input Indicators, Activity Indicators, Output Indicators, Outcome Indicators and Inclusive Growth Indicators.

- Data for 16 of the indicators is collected from publicly available sources such as ONS, NOMIS and the Scottish Government, and a further seven are collected from other agencies including the Business Gateway National Unit, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise and the Supplier Development Programme (SDP).
- This approach is designed to minimise the reporting burden on councils and means
 they are only required to report on the data that they individually collect and hold. The
 most recent Indicator Framework can be accessed via the SLAED website. It is not
 explicitly stated how the SLAED Indicators Framework is linked to the National
 Performance Framework.

Budget

The SLAED Indicators Report 2019-20 ¹⁶ provides an estimate of economic development expenditure in 2019-20. This expenditure is extracted from the Local Finance Return (LFR) data, which is supplied by councils to the Scottish Government and includes both economic development and tourism capital and revenue spend. In 2019-20, according to SLAED overall estimated expenditure by councils was £564 million:

- The total estimated capital spend in Scotland was £240 million and estimated revenue spend was £324 million.
- The total economic development spend for 2019/20 was £534 million and tourism spend was £30 million .

The below chart shows Investment in "Economic Development & Tourism per 1,000 Population in 2019/20". This data was sourced from the Improvement Service Local Government Benchmark Framework ¹⁷.

£1,000,000 £900.000 £800,000 £700,000 £600,000 £500,000 £400,000 £300,000 £200,000 £100,000 Shetland Islands West Dunbartonshire Glasgow City **Drkney Islands** Inverclyde Argyll & Bute **Edinburgh City** Perth & Kinross Scottish Borders South Lanarkshire ast Dunbartonshire Clackmannanshire Aberdeen City Eilean Siar Renfrewshire Aberdeenshire Scotland East Ayrshire South Ayr shire West Lothian Midlothian North Lanark shire East Lothian Renfrewshire North Ayrshire Dundee City

Figure 1: Investment in economic development and tourism per 1,000 population, 2019-20

Improvement Service, 2021¹⁷

Economic development activity doesn't have a ring-fenced budget and this makes local economic development budgets vulnerable to financial pressures, including retrenchment.

Business Gateway

Business Gateway (BG) is Scotland's national business advice service, offering free advice and support to anyone starting a new business, as well as existing businesses with the ambition and potential to grow. BG is delivered and funded by local authorities throughout Scotland.

BG's service includes publicly funded local workshops, one-to-one support from business advisers, extensive online resources and expert support on topics including innovation, exporting, finance and new markets. Additionally, BG works closely with national and regional economic development organisations, including Scottish Enterprise, Highlands & Islands Enterprise and Scottish Development International, to provide growing businesses with specialist support and financial assistance.

The Business Gateway National Unit is located within COSLA and provides national functions to support local authorities in the delivery of services at a local level.

In 2019, the Session 5 Economy, Energy and Fair Work Committee published a report ¹⁸ from their inquiry on SME business support with a focus on Business Gateway. The report provides more information around:

· alignment and accountability

- · targets and performance
- · budgets
- · enterprise culture.

Regional Economic Partnerships

Regional Economic Partnerships (REPs) are collaborations between local government, the private sector, education and skills providers, enterprise and skills agencies, and the third sector.

The Scottish Government has encouraged the development of REP arrangements, since 2017, which are self-assembled around the bespoke requirements of particular regions. These build and expand on the experiences, structures and learning from early City Deals. It is envisaged that these partnerships will evolve over time and will be underpinned by the participation of the region's key private, public and third sector interests including Community Planning Partnerships (CPP), universities and colleges.

The Scottish Government was of the view ¹⁹ that REPs bring together regional interests, focusing and aligning resources, sharing knowledge, and identifying new joined-up plans to accelerate inclusive economic growth at a local, regional, and national level.

Prior to publication of the Enterprise and Skills Review and establishment of the city region and growth deal programme in Scotland, a range of local and regional economic partnerships were in place. Many of these continue, some new partnerships have emerged via City Region and growth deal activity and others have been formed. Scotland's REPs formed and under development include:

- Glasgow City Region
- Aberdeen City and Shire
- Edinburgh and South East Scotland
- Stirling & Clackmannanshire
- Tay Cities Partnerships
- Ayrshire
- Inverness & Highlands
- South of Scotland
- · The Islands
- Argyll & Bute
- Falkirk
- Moray.

Scottish National Investment Bank

The Scottish National Investment Bank (SNIB) was officially launched on 23 November 2020. A national investment bank, at the most basic definitional level, is a bank created by a country's government, that provides financing primarily for the purposes of economic development of the country.

It is the UK's first mission-led development bank and it is being capitalised by the Scottish Government with £2 billion over ten years. The Bank's missions ²⁰ will focus on supporting Scotland's transition to net zero, extending equality of opportunity through improving places, and harnessing innovation to enable Scotland to flourish.

It will provide patient capital – a form of long term investment – for businesses and projects in Scotland, and catalyse further private sector investment.

Skills Development Scotland

Skills Development Scotland (SDS) is Scotland's national skills agency and a non-departmental body of the Scotlish Government. Its purpose is to drive productivity and inclusive growth through investment in skills, enabling businesses and people to achieve their full potential.

SDS's Annual Operating Plan 2021-22 illustrates their plans to continue responding to the social and economic impacts of the pandemic. SDS's current strategic goals are:

- all people in Scotland have the skills, information and opportunities to succeed in the labour market
- Scotland's businesses drive productivity and inclusive growth
- Scotland has a dynamic and responsive skills system
- SDS leads by example and continuously improves to achieve excellence.

SDS has a total budget of £264 million in 2021-22, of which £231 million is core funding from the Scottish Government. This is supplemented by in-year transfers of discrete funding to address Ministerial priorities.

Other economic development partners

In addition to the economic development organisations and partnerships outlined already in this section, other publicly funded organisations with a supporting role in economic development include:

VisitScotland - was initially established as the Scottish Tourist Board under the
Development of Tourism Act 1969. The Tourist Boards (Scotland) Act 2006 formally
changed the name of the Scottish Tourist Board to VisitScotland. Under the 1969 Act,
the principal function of VisitScotland was to encourage British people to visit and to
take holidays in Scotland, and to advise Government and public bodies on matters
relating to tourism in Scotland. The Tourism (Overseas Promotion) (Scotland) Act

1984 provides the authority for VisitScotland to market Scotland overseas. VisitScotland's core purpose, as set out in the Corporate Plan, is to deliver sustainable and inclusive economic growth throughout Scotland.

- Transport Scotland is the national transport agency for Scotland. It was established as an executive agency of the then Scottish Executive in January 2005. Its role was substantially expanded when it merged with the Scottish Government's Transport Directorate in August 2010, while remaining as a separate agency. It seeks to deliver a safe, efficient, cost-effective and sustainable transport system for the benefit of the people of Scotland, playing a key role in helping to achieve the Scottish Government's Purpose of increasing sustainable economic growth with opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish.
- Scottish Funding Council (SFC) is the national, strategic body that funds further
 and higher education and research in Scotland. The SFC is a Non-Departmental
 Public Body of the Scottish Government and was established on 3 October 2005. Its
 main statutory duties and powers come from the Further and Higher Education
 (Scotland) Act 2005. SFC's purpose is to create and sustain a world-leading system of
 tertiary education, research and innovation that changes lives for the better, enriches
 society and supports sustainable and inclusive economic growth.

Other partners involved in economic development include:

- Economic Development Association Scotland (EDAS)
- Improvement Service
- SOLACE (Society of Local Authority Chief Executives)
- Scottish Chamber of Commerce
- · Federation of Small Businesses Scotland
- Scottish Council for Development and Industry (SCDI).

Measuring performance

Measuring the activities of the publicly funded economic development agencies against the Scottish Government's budget and intended outcomes has been an ongoing challenge for Parliamentary scrutiny. Over 20 years ago in 1999, the Scottish Parliament's 'Enterprise and Lifelong Learning Committee ²¹ 'concluded that:

"There needs to be further development of a framework to measure the performance, efficiency and impact of economic development activities. The measures currently used are often too crude."

Despite the passing of time, a 2021 Legacy Report ²² from a parliamentary committee concluded similar.

"We have focused on the work of the enterprise agencies for our annual budget scrutiny. However, it has been challenging to establish outcomes for the spend of Scottish Enterprise. We have recommended, on a number of occasions, that action is taken to make the agency's outcomes more tangible and measurable. This is a work in progress and one which we recommend our successor committee continues to monitor in the next session. Given the size of the spend, it is vital that Scotland's enterprise agencies continue to be subject to rigorous scrutiny."

Audit Scotland highlighted similar concerns ¹ in 2016. They found that the economic development agencies had performed well against their agreed performance measures but it was not possible to accurately measure their contribution to the National Performance Framework (NPF). Audit Scotland did acknowledge that measuring the impact of economic development activity is difficult and that the agencies were pursuing a range of evaluation work to help demonstrate and improve their impact.

Linking budgets to outcomes is notoriously difficult, for who can say that complex social and economic outcomes are ever neatly attributable to any one budget line? However, it should still be possible for parliamentarians to gain an understanding of the extent to which a budget line has made a positive contribution to an outcome. After all, budgets buy inputs which should lead to measurable outputs. The effectiveness of these outputs can then be assessed against desired outcomes. A previous publication by SPICe "Linking budgets to outcomes – the impossible dream?" provides more context on this topic.

The Scottish Government in 2020 provided the following response when questioned about measuring the performance of the economic development agencies.

"The enterprise and skills agencies are working with the Strategic Board Analytical Unit to continue to improve the consistency of measurement and further develop a shared understanding of common outcomes relating to the activities undertaken and expenditure and ensuring these are fully aligned with the National Performance Framework. There are long term objectives which require further development of potential new measurements and targets. The agencies continue to take a holistic approach to business support but appreciate this makes it difficult to isolate outcomes for particular activities and spend when they combine to create impact."

Still a cluttered landscape?

A 'cluttered landscape' has been something of a recurring theme when in it comes to economic development in Scotland. Over 20 years ago in 1999, the Scottish Parliament's 'Enterprise and Lifelong Learning Committee ²¹' concluded that:

"There <u>is</u> congestion within the field of local economic development in Scotland. There is confusion, overlap, duplication and even active competition between the many agencies involved."

When Business Gateway passed to local authority control in 2008, one of its intended purposes was to help businesses navigate the confused landscape and the myriad of programmes, services and providers. However, a 2019 Inquiry by the Parliament's Economy Energy and Fair Work Committee ¹⁸ found that despite its intended purpose the 'confusion remains'.

"These include: a range of enterprise agency interventions, city deals, private sector offerings, growth deals and regional partnerships. Beyond the economic development services offered at a local level by local authorities, the wide range of business advice and support provided by public, private and third sector partners was seen as an advantage and disadvantage to the current system."

In 2016, Audit Scotland stated ¹ the full range of public sector support for businesses is not known which creates a risk of duplication and inefficiency.

"Public sector support is not well understood by businesses and there is scope to simplify arrangements and clarify roles and responsibilities. The landscape for supporting economic growth is changing and becoming more complicated, including reducing budgets, new financial powers for Scotland, the increasing prioritisation of 'inclusive growth', the creation of City Region Deals and the potential Islands Deal."

The 2016 Phase 1 Report of the Enterprise and Skills Review stated there were perceptions of a 'cluttered landscape' where unclear roles and responsibilities may lead to agencies duplicating activity or users finding it difficult to understand access criteria and the entirety of available support.

Over the last six years we have seen some attempts at rethinking the 'enterprise and skills' landscape in Scotland, via the activities of the Enterprise and Skills Strategic Board. But has this achieved the change that was originally anticipated - The Enterprise and Skills Review – achieving its aspirations? – some would argue the landscape is still cluttered.

It should be highlighted here that the Enterprise and Skills Strategic Board has been considering how the Board's original missions remain relevant in light of COVID19 and whether they should change to support the recovery. Work is also underway to investigate new or improved ways the Board and enterprise and skills agencies can work together to generate the greatest impact, reflecting the original objective of the Board to get the maximum value from collective investment. A refresh of its Strategic Plan is expected later in 2021.

Economic development strategy in Scotland – is there one?

Economic development was one of the policy areas devolved to the Scottish Parliament when it came into existence in 1999. The Parliament inherited a set of arrangements that saw responsibility for economic development shared between local authorities and the then two enterprise agencies – structured as regional networks. However, the economic development landscape has since evolved as reflected here and in the previous chapter on the main actors.

Supporting economic growth is complex, as Audit Scotland ¹ point out many factors influence the economy and most are outside the control of the public sector. A range of partners and partnerships are involved. The public sector's role is to create the conditions that encourage business growth, stimulate demand for goods and services and increase the economic participation of individuals.

There is no agreed definition of economic development activity, as highlighted in the opening section of this report. However, since devolution in 1999 Scotland has had some form of economic development strategy - Scotland's earlier strategies were framed as economic development strategies but more recently just tend to be called economic strategies.

This chapter provides: an overview of these past strategies; explores the current economic development strategy; looks in more detail at a regional approach within Scotland; and how both Scottish and UK Government policies align.

Looking back – 22 years of economic strategies

In 2019, SPICe published 'Evolution and dilution in devolution: economic policy in Scotland ²³' to mark 20 years of the Scottish Parliament. This publication detailed that there had been ten strategies, plans and frameworks to develop Scotland's economy since 1999.

The Way Forward: Framework for Economic Development in Scotland was introduced by the then Scotlish Executive, in 2000. This was built on by the first economic strategy for devolved Scotland, A Smart, Successful Scotland, introduced in 2001. The strategy and framework were refreshed in 2004.

Shortly before the onset of the financial crisis and recession in 2007, the Scottish Government published the Government Economic Strategy. The Government then published an Economic Recovery Plan in 2008, with the Government Economic Strategy updated after the 2011 election.

The Government then published Scotland's Economic Strategy in 2015. This 2015 strategy is currently Scotland's main economic policy document, but there has been continued policy churn to support this since. The Enterprise and Skills Review was launched in 2016, resulting in the Enterprise and Skills Board: Strategic Plan in 2018. And late 2018 saw the arrival of the Economic Action Plan. Though this could be classed less a plan, and more a website, capturing a range of initiatives and support linked to the economy.

A Fraser of Allander blog described Scotland's economic policy landscape as complex and suggested that this can lead to confusion, a lack of alignment, duplication, weakened accountability, and makes evaluating what actually works all the more difficult. The blog provided the following advice.

"Strategies and advisory groups are no substitute for good policy delivery based upon evidence and data. Back in 2007, the Scottish Government promised a streamlined and effective policy landscape for the economy. Ten years later it may be time to look at this again."

The launch of the Economic Action Plan in late 2018 was seen by some as a response to this criticism.

In June 2021, the new Cabinet Secretary for Finance and Economy committed that in the first six months of the new parliamentary session to deliver a new 10-year national strategy for economic transformation.

Trends in policy

The contents of Scotland's economic strategies, plans, and frameworks has evolved with each iteration since devolution.

- The vision of the 2000 economic framework was "to raise the quality of life of the Scottish people through increasing economic opportunities for all on a socially and environmentally sustainable basis". This framework emphasised the importance of supply side drivers of productivity such as innovation and skills, stressed the key role of market forces and offered the primary justification for policy intervention as market failure.
- Scotland's first post-devolution economic strategy, A Smart, Successful Scotland, was viewed as an attempt to promote a science-based economy. The implementation of the strategy led to the adoption of some major policy innovations, such as Intermediary Technology Institutes (ITIs). However, they didn't stand the test of time and were abolished in 2010. An academic study concluded that ITIs "badly malfunctioned" and were "a spectacular failure".
- The 2004 update of the strategy had a much more explicit spatial dimension than its
 predecessor, with a focus on city regions and rural development, regeneration and
 strengthening communities. There were also two cross-cutting themes: sustainable
 development and closing the opportunity gap for people and places.
- The 2007 strategy marked a step change in terms of coverage yet had large overlaps with the contents of the previous strategy and framework. Indeed, the biggest difference was the setting of specific targets. However, commentators at the time believed ambitious targets were not in themselves sufficient and the lack of clear and radical initiatives to achieve them was an important omission. The 2007 strategy also introduced the concept of the "key sectors" (which in the 2015 iteration would become "growth sectors"), the Arc of Prosperity countries, and bold targets around growth and productivity.
- Compared with other governments at the time, the Scottish Government had a narrower range of options available to consider in terms of promoting economic recovery for the 2008 Recovery Plan, as it had no powers over monetary policy and

limited fiscal powers. The Plan had three broad themes: supporting jobs and communities, strengthening education and skills, and investing in innovation and the industries of the future. The Scottish Government stated the Plan supported 15,000 jobs across Scotland. The financial crisis of 2008 highlighted the importance of responding flexibly to emerging pressures and challenges. It also emphasised the need to create an economy that was more resilient to shocks and economic uncertainty. Developing a more resilient and adaptable economy were the key aims of the 2011 strategy, reflecting the zeitgeist of the time.

 The purpose of the 2015 strategy was to create a more successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish, with sustainable economic growth remaining at the core. This strategy introduced the concept of the "4 Is" (investment, innovation, inclusive growth, internationalisation). Overall it was a broad, high-level strategy and did not set out in detail how underpinning policies and initiatives will be implemented.

The first strategy, following devolution, started out as direction for the enterprise networks. Successive strategies gradually tackled wider social challenges and offered direction for the wider public sector, eventually arriving at the "One Scotland Approach" in the 2015 Strategy. SPICe's 2015 briefing looks in more detail at the evolution of economic strategies.

Over last five years we have seen some attempts at rethinking the 'enterprise and skills' landscape in Scotland. But did this achieve the change that was originally anticipated - The Enterprise and Skills Review – achieving its aspirations? – some would argue the landscape is still cluttered.

Over the last two decades, Scotland's economic policy landscape has evolved from a narrow enterprise agency approach to a wider whole government approach. SPICe's 2019 blog stated that while there is merit to this more holistic approach to economic policy, it has weakened accountability, and makes evaluating what actually works all the more difficult. There have been no formal procedures in place to form an overall assessment of the success of successive economic strategies.

While as Audit Scotland point out the economic strategy states that progress will be measured through the National Performance Framework (NPF). The NPF measures progress towards outcomes but it does not have targets nor measure the contribution of policies and initiatives to delivering these outcomes. The Scottish Government has refreshed its economic strategy twice since 2007 and has developed and refreshed underpinning plans and policies. But it has not collated progress against these, or the contribution made by individual public bodies, to form an overall assessment of progress against the priorities in its previous economic strategies.

Current focus

Scotland's Economic Strategy (2015) structured around the four Is (innovation, internationalisation, investment, inclusive growth) and the Economic Action Plan (live dynamic document) are currently the main documents that guide economic policy in Scotland.

However, as highlighted previously, the Scottish Government has committed to deliver a

new 10-year national strategy for economic transformation in the first six months of the new parliamentary session. This would suggest that Scotland will have a new economic strategy before the end of 2021. However, we can get a feel for current Scottish Government thinking around economic development from a few different sources, as explored below.

The Scottish Government's Economic Development Directorate states:

- "We play a fundamental role in delivering the Scottish Economic Strategy, through increasing sustainable economic growth. We are responsible for:"
 - encouraging innovation and entrepreneurship and supporting key sectors"
 - working with other public, private and third sector stakeholders to deliver the Scottish Business Pledge"
 - · overseeing a successful major events programme and a vibrant cities agenda"
 - boosting productivity, competitiveness, sustainable employment, and workforce engagement and development"
 - funding City Region Deals to attract investment and create jobs"
 - collaborating with partners through Clyde Mission to drive sustainable and inclusive growth"
 - European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIFs), the European Union's way of investing in 'smart, sustainable and inclusive' growth in its member states."

Letters of guidance (these are Ministerial letters from the Scottish Government to public bodies setting out the general direction of travel that the public body should take across a range of activities) issued to the economic development agencies can provide useful insight on current policy thinking. The most recent interim letter of guidance were issued in March 2021.

During 2020 the Scottish Government issued two letters of guidance to the economic development agencies reflecting the rapidly changing situation caused by COVID-19.

- Interim letters of guidance in April 2020 asked the agencies to stop all but the most critical 'business as usual' activity, re-prioritise and work collaboratively to meet the immediate challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.
- More detailed guidance in December 2020 pointed to work being taken forward to support the economic recovery, in line with the commitments in the 2020 Programme for Government. However, the sharp deterioration in the pandemic towards the end of 2020 made it necessary for the Scottish Government to impose new restrictions and the agencies were again asked to re-direct resource to help provide vital support for individuals, communities and businesses.
- Further interim letters of guidance issued in March 2021 recognised the need for the
 agencies to continue to be responsive in the face of changing circumstances, whilst
 highlighting priority areas of work for the short to medium term with expectations of
 more detailed guidance to be issued later in 2021.

Reading across the March 2021 guidance letters to the agencies (SE, HIE, SOSE) reveals

the following themes.

- Economic recovery the 2020 Programme for Government underlined the need for our recovery from COVID-19 to be "led by green growth and to also promote fairness and wellbeing. It committed to: a national mission to create new jobs, good jobs and green jobs, with a particular focus on young people; promoting lifelong health and wellbeing; and advancing equality and helping our young people grasp their potential".
- Regional delivery supporting the implementation of growth deals and development
 of associated economic partnerships or cross authority collaborations. It is intended
 regional delivery programmes will act as a catalyst for realising longer term ambitions
 to renew and grow regional economies by encouraging business growth and
 protecting and creating high quality jobs.
- Supply chain development the Scottish Government believe improving the
 capacity, capability and resilience of Scottish supply chains is key to economic
 recovery and to supporting the national mission to create jobs. The Supply Chain
 Development Programme is working to analyse existing supply chains, build better
 and more strategic supply chains and leverage Scotland's public sector procurement.
- Climate change and COP26 "Team Scotland" delivery of Scottish Ministers' objectives for COP26, including: mobilising businesses to go further and faster to net zero emissions; supporting growth opportunities through investment and exports; showcasing private sector leadership on climate change; and supporting communications around the summit.
- Implementation of the national programmes seven national programmes focusing on Digital Scale Up Level Up, Health for Wealth, Scotland in Space, Future Healthcare Manufacturing, Zero Emissions Heavy Duty Vehicles, Decarbonising Heat, and Hydrogen Economy.
- Early stage support focus on supporting a dynamic, ambitious and diverse entrepreneurial community and providing investment into ambitious, early stage companies from start to scale up, creating a pipeline of growth opportunities. Strong collaboration required with SNIB.

In terms of the COVID-19 pandemic and economic recovery, in August 2020, the Scottish Government published a response to the Advisory Group on Economic Recovery report "Towards a Robust, Resilient Wellbeing Economy for Scotland: Report of the Advisory Group on Economic Recovery. ⁶ "

The AGER report suggests that:

"Scottish Government considers using the 'Four Capitals' approach in forming its economic strategy, both in the recovery phase and for the longer term. This will require considerable technical work in order to measure and monitor our assets, notably in natural capital, as we have already noted: but we think that the potential long-term benefits in terms of policy provide sufficient justification."

The "four capitals" refers to Scotland's major capital assets: natural capital, social networks, collaboration and interaction, human skills and knowledge, and economic capital.

The Scottish Government accepted all recommendations from the Report and identify six

key areas for action:

- business recovery and sustainable, green growth
- · engagement and partnership approach
- · employment, skills and training
- · supporting people and places
- · investment-led growth for wellbeing
- · monitoring progress and outcomes.

The Scottish Chamber of Commerce stated the following about the Scottish Government response to the AGER:

"It contains some strategic and medium to long-term priorities, but as yet there is not the detail, the timeline and the action plans that we would have liked. However, it is our hope and desire that those will come forward."

The Scottish Government made a number of commitments and proposals as part of their response to the AGER report and in the Programme for Government 2020-21 that sought to support a green recovery. In particular, the Programme for Government highlighted commitments to:

- create a £100 million Green Jobs Fund
- allocate £60 million to support industrial and manufacturing decarbonisation
- maintain current levels of spend on active travel at £100million per year
- uplift spending in Heat and Energy efficiency from £112m in 2019-20 to £398m p.a. in 2025-26
- · continue to develop the Agricultural Transformation Fund
- bring forward recommendations for new mechanisms of agricultural support
- provide an additional £100 million to support new forestry planting.

These themes were continued in the 2021-22 Programme for Government (PFG)'A Fairer, Greener Scotland'. Unsurprisingly the "foremost priority" was recovery from the pandemic and alongside this, the 2021-22 PFG focused on six long-term priorities:

- 1. "Caring Nation: setting out a new vision for health and social care"
- 2. "Land of Opportunity: supporting young people and promoting a fairer and more equal society"
- 3. "Net Zero Nation: ending Scotland's contribution to climate change, restoring nature and enhancing our climate resilience, in a just and fair way"
- 4. "An Economy that works for all of Scotland's People and Places: putting sustainability, wellbeing and fair work at the heart of our economic transformation"

- 5. "Living Better: supporting thriving, resilient and diverse communities"
- 6. "Scotland in the World: championing democratic principles, at home and abroad"

For more detail on the PFG, see the SPICe blog 'Programme for Government 2021-22: A fairer, greener Scotland?'.

A more regional approach?

An article from the Local Economy Policy Unit Journal ³ states there have been a wide variety of approaches adopted to local and regional economic development. Recent years have brought something of an upturn in regionalism in Scotland. This agenda has been given recent impetus by the development of City Region and Growth Deals, and by the recommendations of the Scottish Government's Enterprise and Skills Review for the establishment of Regional Economic Partnerships (REPs).

The Enterprise and Skills Review was clear that the REPs should be self-assembled according to the needs of different regions and there were no predefined regional geographies. The Review also committed the economic development agencies and stakeholders to working regionally.

REPs presented a mechanism for the Scottish Government and relevant agencies to engage more with regional needs and circumstances – a movement towards the language of more 'place-based' development. However, as Clelland ³ points out there are also some clear expectations for REPs.

"...they will, for example be expected to have private sector representation, and to use the inclusive growth tool to inform any future funding bids. The language of partnership, collaboration and flexibility therefore sits somewhat uneasily alongside a fairly explicit reminder of where control over resources lies – while there is no statutory duty for local actors to form these partnerships, the relatively centralised nature of government within Scotland gives the Scottish Government significant leverage in shaping the metagovernance of regional economic development and in setting the 'rules of the game'. The introduction of REPs also appears likely to reinforce the significance of the new geographies emerging through the growth deals, as these will no longer simply be groups of local authorities coming together to deliver specific sets of projects, but will become spaces for wider ranging strategic collaboration, including being responsible for the preparation of Regional Economic Strategies."

Scotland's economic development agencies have committed to a more place-based approach in recent years (well namely Scottish Enterprise as both Highlands and Islands Enterprise and South of Scotland Enterprise have an inherent regional remit). In 2019, Scottish Enterprise announced a pivot back to a more wide-ranging role in supporting communities as well as businesses, with a clearer social dimension. One commentator noted, in 2007 Scottish Enterprise had moved away from that role to focus on a limited number of companies with high-growth potential, so the 2019 pivot was quite a U-turn.

More recently the Advisory Group in Economic Recovery (AGER) report recommended that:

- The economic development landscape in Scotland should pivot to a more regionally focused model in order to address the specific new challenges of economic recovery.
 This model should be tasked to drive delivery of place-based and regional solutions, especially the City-Region Growth Deals
- The Scottish Government should support a renewed focus on place-based initiatives, building on lessons learned from initiatives on Community Wealth-Building. It should also accelerate investment in housing, in particular through the Scottish National Investment Bank.

In response to the AGER report, the Scottish Government committed to:

- work with Scottish Enterprise to support their shift to a more bespoke, regionallyfocussed approach across the SE area by the end of 2022
- through Regional Economic Partnerships, work closely with local government, Enterprise Agencies and other key economic actors, including the private sector, to take a focussed "taskforce" approach to driving place-based recovery and renewal.

This more regional approach to economic development has also gained some traction at a local government level. A 2019 report looking at Regional Approaches to Maximising Inclusive Economic Growth in Scotland found that:

- There is broad agreement around the rationale for regional working based on functional economic geography, mutual benefit and the potential to deliver improved outcomes. For some, regional approaches are also about building more resilient public services for the future.
- The pace and extent of progress in developing regional approaches is varied across the country, and a small minority of councils are less committed to a regional model, preferring instead to pursue a more local agenda. This should not be surprising. Regional working in the context of inclusive economic growth is still in its early stages, and collaborative working takes time to establish. It may also be the case that regional approaches make more sense in some areas than others. In particular the notion of functional economic geography may be less compelling in some of the more rural and remote parts of the country.
- Capacity and capability are real challenges for many authorities. As a discretionary service, economic development has borne significant reductions in budget, and resources are thinly stretched. The City Region and Growth Deals have also made substantial demands on councils, and the further development of regional collaborative approaches will need investment and action to support the development of the thinking and skills that will support regional collaboration.

Frictions or synergies in strategy?

The previous sections of this briefing outline a constant process of reorganising and rescaling governance arrangements across the economic development landscape over the last two decades in Scotland. This has been shaped by actors at local, Scotlish and UK levels.

Does this result in frictions or synergies for different places within Scotland to pursue

economic development?

A Scottish Parliament Inquiry into City Deals in 2018 concluded that:

"In our view, there is a danger that the often confused and cluttered policy landscape at local government, Scottish and UK levels runs the risk of reducing the impact that can be achieved from the deals. At present, there are too many overlapping and competing initiatives and a mismatch between the objectives of local government and of the two governments."

The next chapter in this briefing provides an overview of some of the key funding interventions currently in delivery or planning across Scotland's economic development landscape. It illustrates the varying policy levers both the Scottish and UK Governments are pursuing, which are not always fully aligned. The economic development landscape is complex and this complexity isn't necessarily helped by the varying intentions of different public sector actors.

Funding Programmes

A selection of some of the key funding programmes which support economic development in Scotland are described below.

These include the EU Structural funds, and their proposed replacements, this year, the Community renewal Fund, and next year, the Shared Prosperity Fund, as well as the (UK wide) Levelling Up fund. The note also looks briefly at Green Ports (the proposed Scottish version of Freeports), the City and Regional Growth Deals, enterprise areas, and some other programmes such as the Green Jobs Fund, the National Manufacturing Institute, and a Women's Business Centre.

European Structural Funds

EU Structural funds have been a significant contributor to local and regional economic development in Scotland for the last 40 years ²⁴ Now the UK has left the EU, it will receive no funding under the European Union's new financial framework (running from 2021 to 2027), although under the terms of the Withdrawal Agreement, it can continue to receive some funding until December 2023 if it was committed under the 2014-2020 programme.

This SPICe briefing on the Structural funds ²⁵ and subsequent SPICe blog ²⁶ provide more detail on how they have worked in Scotland. Under the EU's 2014-2020 budget framework, Scotland was allocated €872m (or around £782m in January 2014 exchange rates), at the outset of the programme, and as at 24 March 2021 the Scottish Government had allocated £624m (with the final figure expected to be higher).

Shared Prosperity Fund

In Session 5 the Scottish Parliament's Economy, Energy and Fair Work Committee carried out an inquiry into European Structural Funds ²⁷ and made a number of recommendations about what the future Shared Prosperity Fund *should* look like. In summary, these included a continued focus on people and places, time frames running beyond electoral cycles, and partnership working. Funding should not be reduced from the structural funds, Scotland should decide how to distribute these funds internally, and there should be a seamless transition to the new regime. The Finance and Constitution Committee also conducted its own inquiry into the Funding of EU Structural Fund Priorities in Scotland, post-Brexit. Recommendations included those on managing the transition to the new fund, as well as building on the "best parts of the current approach" and that "the decision taking powers that the Scottish Government currently exercise under the EUSF should not be reduced under the UKSPF".

The Scottish Government produced its own proposals for a Scottish replacement for the EU structural funds ²⁸, and how these might be managed. This followed a public consultation, and work of an expert steering group, chaired by Professors John Bachtler and David Bell. Four key areas were considered: Funding and Allocation; Governance and Delivery; Policy Alignment; and Monitoring and Evaluation

The proposal would involve (at least) a five-year programme, led by the Scottish

Government, with regional partnerships "free to allocate money as they wish in their regions, guided by principles...". Funding would be distributed using a "transparent, needs-based regional allocation model". The areas would "align with the Highlands and Islands and South of Scotland Enterprise areas and with emerging Regional Economic Partnership Areas in the rest of the country".

However, it's still not clear exactly what form the UK government wish the new fund to take. In November 2020, the UK Spending Review 2020 ²⁹ did say that:

"The fund will "operate UK-wide" using powers in the UK Internal Market Bill, and that investments and programmes will display common branding"

The UK government also identified two strands of funding, perhaps not dissimilar to the split between European Regional Development funding (ERDF) and European Social Fund funding (ESF) that came through the EU structural funds, with emphasis added:

"A portion of the UKSPF will target **places most in need** across the UK, such as exindustrial areas, deprived towns and rural and coastal communities.... A second portion of the UKSPF will be targeted differently: to **people most in need** through bespoke employment and skills programmes that are tailored to local need. This will support improved employment outcomes for those in and out of work in specific cohorts of people who face labour market barriers"

On 7 September 2021, the Chancellor launched a spending review alongside an Autumn Budget for 2022/23, concluding on 27 October, and explained that the review will deliver priorities including through:

"Levelling up across the UK to increase and spread opportunity; unleash the potential of places by improving outcomes UK-wide where they lag and working closely with local leaders; and strengthen the private sector where it is weak."

How much funding will be available?

The Scottish Government 28 has called for "the full amount of funding due to Scotland" which they calculate as being at least £183 million per year (to replace the EU Structural Funds, and the European Territorial Cooperation and LEADER programmes), equating to a 7-year replacement programme of £1.283 billion

The UK government said in its Spending Review 2020 (Box 3.1), said that it will "ramp up funding", to "at least match current EU receipts", which they calculate will mean, on average reaching around of £1.5 billion a year across the UK.

It is currently not clear how this will be apportioned across the UK or how much of this will be allocated to Scotland.

How will the devolved administrations be involved?

The UK government has said ³⁰ that it will:

"... engage the Devolved Administrations and local partners as we develop the UK Shared Prosperity Fund's Investment Framework..." and that they have "demonstrated this commitment by confirming that the Devolved Administrations will have a place within the governance structures."

However, the Scottish Government said that, as at March 2021, the quality of engagement with the UK government at official and Ministerial level had, so far, been "hugely disappointing." ³¹

Some issues and questions

The Scottish Government's Just Transition, Employment and Fair Work Minister Richard Lochhead MSP wrote to the UK Government (July 2021), stating that he was "beyond disappointed" by the level of engagement in relation to the Shared Prosperity Fund, (and other funds), whilst also setting out some "principles for future engagement", which would involve treating the Scottish Government as a "full and equal partner". These included:

- a clear role for Scottish government officials in the development, delivery and decision making across all aspects of policy planning
- · agreement of Scottish Ministers before the UKSPF is launched
- Scottish Ministers and officials to have a meaningful role in the governance of the Programme in both Scotland and at UK level
- A formal framework for decisions on funding across the UK, agreed with the devolved administrations.

The Minister raised a number of questions, including those relating to:

- · the geographies the UKSPF will be aligned to
- use of a needs based versus competitive approach in the allocation of funding, and associated funding guarantees for Scotland, including how to ensure that "no part of the UK will lose out on funding"
- Whether funding will be on a multi annual basis and process to draw down funding
- Governance arrangements and hierarchy, and relative status of Scottish devolved policy frameworks, including how bodies such as enterprise agencies, Skills Development Scotland and Transport Scotland, will be engaged.
- Evaluation, monitoring and audit of individual projects and overall programme
- Whether the UKSPF will operate on exactly the same basis across all the other nations

The House of Commons Scottish Affairs committee published the report of its inquiry into the Shared Prosperity Fund (July 2021). Its recommendations included the following (emphasis added):

- The UK Government must launch a **formal**, **public consultation** on its proposals for the UKSPF by autumn 2021.
- We urge the UK and Scottish Governments to work constructively together in the

design and delivery of the UKSPF.

- The UK Government's multi-year funding profile should clarify how much funding
 will be available each year for the UK and for Scotland for at least the first five years
 of the UKSPF.
- The UK Government must clarify how and when EU rural development funding, including the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) and European Maritime Fisheries Fund (EMFF), will be replaced.
- In March 2022, a year after it began, the UK Government should evaluate the Community Renewal Fund and publish its findings on how well the fund has operated. This evaluation should highlight implications for the design and delivery of the UKSPF.
- The UK Government should ensure that its methodology and criteria for allocating UKSPF funds are clear and transparent
- In its response to this Report, the UK Government should clarify how much funding
 has been given to local authorities in Scotland to help them build capacity in
 developing bids for the UKSPF.
- The UK Government should prioritise academic research funding when allocating resources under the UKSPF. The UK Government should collaborate with the Scottish Government, to ensure that regions where structural funding for universities has brought significant regional benefits, are not disproportionally disadvantaged by the transition to the UKSPF.
- We recommend that the UK Government **evaluates the progress of the UKSPF** after one year of operation and publishes a report, to ensure that funding is delivering the levelling up agenda by being allocated to the areas and sectors of greatest need.

A response from the UK government was due by 9 September 2021 (and as at 20 September 2021, was being reported as "overdue" by the committee).

A subsequent report from the Institute for Government (July 2021) concluded that the Fund "risks damaging trust between the UK and devolved administrations and undermining the UK government's key objective of binding the four nations of the UK closer together."

The report suggests that the UK government ensures "greater consultation with the devolved nations, introduce clear spending criteria and set up a governance structure that allows the devolved nations to work as partners". Specific recommendations include:

- clear criteria for how spending under the UKSPF will be allocated,
- Reduced bureaucracy for local recipients of funding
- Improved consultation with devolved administrations as an immediate priority, including more sharing of information
- · avoiding duplication of spending
- a governance structure for the UKSPF in which the devolved administrations participate as partners, and

 consideration for a 'match funding' model for at least some projects in the devolved nations.

The Community Renewal Fund

The UKSPF is due to launch in 2022, and in the meantime a new fund, the Community Renewal Fund (CRF), is intended to support "a smooth transition". The operation of the CRF will also provide some clues as to how the UKSPF will work. Its March 2021 prospectus ³⁰ sets out how "an additional £220m of investment" for the UK in 2021-22 (and only available in 2021-22) can be accessed and what it can be spent on.

The fund will also "help inform the design of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund through funding of one-year pilots" and enable the UK government to "work directly with local partners in each nation across the UK".

The prospectus flags up what it says are some opportunities for improvements compared to EU structural funds including:

- · quicker release of funding
- · better targeting for places in need
- · closer alignment with domestic policies
- · reduced bureaucracy.

How will the CRF be allocated?

The CRF will involve a competitive process. Although there is "no pre-set eligibility", 100 priority places have been identified in Great Britain "based on an index of economic resilience", 13 of which are in Scotland.

Northern Ireland and Gibraltar are however not part of this competitive process and will receive a fixed allocation of £11 million and up to £0.5 million respectively. For Northern Ireland the UK government will oversee a project competition directly, whilst the UK government will work with the Government of Gibraltar to agree the delivery arrangements for Gibraltar.

Taking account of the above allocations, and up to £14 million that will be available to help places prepare for the introduction of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, this means that around £194.5 million (of the £220m) will be available for distribution across England, Wales and Scotland.

How was the index to identify the 100 Priority Places created?

The methodology note for the Prospectus explains how an index score has been used, based on five criteria, with different weightings

1. Productivity (30%)

- 2. Skills (20%)
- 3. Unemployment Rate (20%)
- 4. Population Density (20%)
- 5. Household Income (10%)

There has been some surprise at the exclusion of some places from the priority list. For example, Ivan McKee MSP ³¹ pointed to a lower priority given to a number of areas for CRF (as well as for the <u>Levelling Up Fund</u>), including Dundee, and the Highlands. The methodology note indicates that the index does indeed create "a diverse typology of places by targeting rural areas with low population density".

What is the bidding process?

This is a UK wide competitive bidding programme for local authorities. Local authorities were required to invite proposals from within their area, appraise them and produce a shortlist for the UK government's Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government by 18 June 2021. Lead local authorities in priority areas will receive some funding for "capacity building" to support the bidding process (drawn from the £220m CRF fund).

The UK government will appraise the bids, on the basis of the selection criteria, such as strategic fit, and deliverability. Where no distinction can be made between projects on the basis of selection criteria, then UK "Ministers can make decisions between projects based on what they consider the best value for money". Successful projects were due to be announced from late July 2021 onwards, though as at September 2021, the Municipal Journal reported that the UK government had yet to announce which projects had won funding.

The Scottish Government told SPICe (May 2021) that it was not clear at that time what role it would play in the assessment of bids, other than assuring UK Government that there is no duplication of funding.

The prospectus identifies four investment priorities – skills/ local business/ communities and place/ and employment, with no ring-fencing across these priorities. Ninety per cent of funding (for this one-year scheme) is revenue funding. Bids should be no more than £3 million per place.

Levelling Up Fund

The prospectus for the Levelling Up fund was published in March 2021. It applies to the whole of the UK, and funds infrastructure of different types. It aims to bring together the Department for Transport, the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government and the Treasury "to invest £4.8 billion in high value local infrastructure". In doing so, it says it will "remove silos between departments, allowing areas to focus on the highest priority local projects rather than shaping projects to fit into narrowly defined pots of funding".

How much?

The UK Government has committed an initial £4 billion for the Levelling Up Fund for England over the next four years (up to 2024-25) and "set aside at least £800 million for Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland". The fund will "focus investment in projects that require up to £20m of funding".

Who is involved?

The prospectus says

"In England, Scotland and Wales, funding will be delivered through local authorities. The Scottish and Welsh Territorial Offices will be consulted in the assessment of relevant bids."

"Capacity funding" will also be allocated to local authorities most in need of levelling up in England, whilst it will also be allocated to *all* local authorities in Scotland and Wales, "to help build their relationship with the UK Government".

The Prospectus puts the local MP "at the heart of its mission" and says

"We expect Members of Parliament, as democratically-elected representatives of the area, to back one bid that they see as a priority."

As with the Community Renewal Fund, a different approach is being taken in Northern Ireland.

What projects will be funded?

The Prospectus says that priority for 2021-2022 will go to three themes:

"smaller transport projects that make a genuine difference to local areas; town centre and high street regeneration; and support for maintaining and expanding the UK's world-leading portfolio of cultural and heritage assets"

Which areas will receive funding?

As with the Community Renewal Fund, an index has been created to rank geographical areas. In this case the index is based on:

- · need for economic recovery and growth
- · need for improved transport connectivity; and,
- need for regeneration.

The methodology has been the subject of some debate, and for example the Good Law Project has mounted a legal challenge against the UK government.

All areas remain eligible for funding, but preference will be given to high priority areas. All Scottish local authorities will be provided with a capacity building grant – in this case of £125,000. The priority status of Scottish areas is set out below.

Table 1: Priority status of Scottish areas

Priority 1	Priority 2	Priority 3
Dumfries and Galloway	Aberdeen City	Aberdeenshire
Dundee City	Angus	City of Edinburgh
East Ayrshire	Argyll and Bute	East Dunbartonshire
Falkirk	Clackmannanshire	Highland
Glasgow City	East Lothian	Orkney Islands
Inverclyde	East Renfrewshire	Perth and Kinross
North Ayrshire	Fife	Shetland Islands
North Lanarkshire	Midlothian	
Renfrewshire	Moray	
Scottish Borders	Na h-Eileanan Siar	
South Ayrshire	Stirling	
South Lanarkshire	West Lothian	
West Dunbartonshire		

Bids for the first round needed to be submitted by 18 June 2021, with decisions expected in autumn. Bids were to be assessed on the basis of deliverability, strategic fit with local and Fund priorities, and value for money. Alongside these assessments, Ministers will have "the opportunity to exercise discretion" against a number of additional considerations.

The prospectus also points out that

"Local authorities can only have one successful bid for each of their allocated number of bids over the lifecycle of the Fund."

Green Ports (the proposed Scottish version of Freeports)

The UK government said that freeports should be established to become "national hubs for global trade and investment". They are designated areas where the standard national tax and tariff rules do not apply. They also reduce the need for administration and paperwork.

In the 2021 budget, the UK Government announced eight successful bids for areas to be designated as Freeports in England.

In its prospectus, the UK government said that it is

" committed to establishing Freeports in each of the four nations, to a target of 10 across the UK"

They are geographically flexible, and may include multiple sites, and can measure up to

45km from one side to the other. Bids were sked to include one port and one customs site. The tax site (which can take advantage of the "tax offer"), needed to be within the Freeport boundary, and be no larger than 600 hectares

Some of the benefits to businesses include, for example:

- Businesses operating within Freeport customs sites will receive tariff benefits and can take advantage of simplified customs procedures.
- Those in the tax site will receive benefits including Stamp Duty Land Tax relief, and enhanced Structures and Buildings Allowance, tax relief on investment on plant and machinery, 0% employer National Insurance Contributions for new employees, up to 100% business rates relief
- A "simpler" planning system, with greater "planning certainty", including for example the possibility of a "streamlined" approach to environmental impact assessment.

For local areas:

- The council or councils in which the Freeport tax sites are located will retain the business rates growth for that area above an agreed baseline
- Successful bidders will have the opportunity to access a share of £175 million of seed capital funding

The Scottish Government announced (January 2021) it planned to set up a "new model of green ports focused on inclusive growth, fair work practices and delivering a net zero economy". The proposals would "adapt the UK government's freeport proposals, offering streamlined planning processes and a package of tax and customs reliefs"

In addition, the Scottish Government would

"make it necessary for operators and businesses benefitting from the package of incentives to:

- pay the real Living Wage
- · adopt the Scottish Business Pledge
- commit to supporting sustainable and inclusive growth in local communities
- contribute to Scotland's just transition to net zero

Potential location(s) for the Scottish Green Ports have yet to be decided, and in March 2021, just prior to dissolution for the Scottish Parliament elections, the Scottish Government published a draft Applicant Prospectus. This set out

"key elements where the Scottish Government has adapted the Freeports model for England to fit with the Scottish context, applying Scottish Government priorities to it to create the 'green port' model."

However the draft Prospectus also indicated that:

"The final Applicant Prospectus for green ports in Scotland will be published in due course, subject to agreement with the UK Government."

On 31 July 2021, the Scottish Government indicated that nine notes of interest had been received covering the following areas

- Shetland
- Orkney
- Cromarty Firth
- · Aberdeen and Peterhead
- Montrose
- Dundee
- · Firth of Forth
- · Glasgow City Region
- Cairnryan

The (UK government's) Secretary of State for Scotland subsequently indicated in a letter to the (Scottish Government's) Minister for Business, Tourism, trade and Enterprise (6 September 2021), that subject to some conditions, the UK government would agree to provide tax and customs benefits for two Freeports in Scotland. The Secretary of State for Scotland also said that:

"Should the Scottish Government not agree to become an investing partner in the scheme, the strong likelihood is that the seed capital available would support the creation of only one Freeport."

However, on September 17 2021, the Scottish Government indicated that agreement had not been reached with the UK government, in particular because there had not been:

" a firm UK Government commitment on payment of the real living wage and net-zero conditionality in the operation of green ports in Scotland. The offer also fails to provide equivalent set-up funding for Scotland to that offered for the UK Government's favoured freeport model for England."

As a result the Scottish Government announced it would:

"now progress plans to develop a green port model which is designed to meet the specific needs of Scotland's economy."

City and Regional Growth Deals

City Region and Regional Growth Deals are packages of funding and decision-making powers, agreed between the Scottish Government, the UK Government and local partners.

In August 2014, the UK Government and the Scottish Government jointly announced the first City Region Deal in Scotland for the Glasgow City Region. Under the deal, the eight councils in the Glasgow City Region agreed to work together to manage an infrastructure investment programme.

Since then, all areas of Scotland have signed, or are working towards signing, either a City Region Deal or, for regions that do not have a city, a Growth Deal.

All deals are different and are intended to be based on local circumstances and priorities. In Scotland, all signed deals are agreements between the UK Government, the Scottish Government, councils and sometimes other partners, such as local business representatives, and universities. They are long-term programmes, with funding committed for 10-20 years.

Table 2: City Region Deals and Regional Growth Deals in Scotland

There are six City Region Deals:	There are also Regional Growth Deals in place, or being developed, in the following areas, which, together with the City Deals provide, "100% coverage of Scotland":
Glasgow City RegionAberdeen and Aberdeenshire	 Ayrshire Growth Deal Borderlands Inclusive Growth Deal Moray Growth Deal
Inverness and HighlandsEdinburgh and South East	 Argyll and Bute Growth Deal Falkirk Growth Deal Islands Growth Deal
Scotland • Stirling and Clackmannanshire	
 Tav Cities 	

Reporting just prior to the pandemic in January 2020, Audit Scotland indicated that *at that time*, of the 12 deals four had been signed (Glasgow, Edinburgh, Inverness and Aberdeen), with the remaining 8 in development. Audit Scotland reported that

- Scottish Government had committed £1.52 billion
- UK Government had committed £1.42 billion
- Councils and local partners had committed £2.23 billion

In May 2020, the first Gateway Review of the Glasgow City Deal was published ³². This was the first of three independent reviews over a 20 year period, which reported "encouraging progress", and was welcomed by the Director of Glasgow City Region who said it now "unlocks a critical £250 million funding boost for the next five years" ³³.

The (then) Cabinet Secretary for Transport , Infrastructure and Connectivity subsequently updated the Local Government and Communities Committee in October 2020 34 , that some £419 million of funding had so far been released to regional partners, whilst also reporting the different stages of progress on the deals for Stirling and Clackmannanshire, for Moray, for Falkirk, and for the Islands.

The Scottish Government's progress report on its Infrastructure investment Plan (June 2021) indicated that eight city and region deals had been signed, the most recent one being the Borderlands Growth deal (March 2021).

Table 3: Summary of Growth Deals (as at 23 June 2021)

Growth Deal	Date Signed	Scottish Government Commitment	UK Government Commitment	Regional Partners Commitment
Glasgow	20 August 2014	£500m	£500m	£130m
Aberdeen City Region	21 November 2016	£125m	£125m	£576m
Inverness and Highland City Region Deal	30 January 2017	£135m	£53.1m	£126.96m
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal	7 August 2018	£300m	£300m	£730m
Ayrshire Regional Growth Deal	19 November 2020	£103m	£103m	£45.5m
Stirling and Clackmannanshire City Region Deal	26 February 2020	£45.1m	£45.1m	£123.8m
Tay Cities Region Deal	17 December 2020	£150m	£150m	£400m
Borderlands Growth Deal	18 March 2021	£85m	£65m	£41.2m

Infrastructure Investment Plan 2015: Update for 2020/21Scottish Government, 2021³⁵

Finally, the UK parliament's Scottish Affairs Committee held a on-off evidence session on 6 September 2021to look at the objectives, progress and delivery of City Region Deals and Growth Deals, with witnesses from local government, the Scottish Government and the UK government.

Enterprise Areas

The Scottish Government has established four Enterprise Areas, which it says are to

[&]quot;help create supportive business environments for our growing industries – life sciences, manufacturing, and low carbon/renewables (North and East) – at 16 strategic sites across Scotland."

Table 4: Overview of enterprise areas

Life Sciences Enterprise Area

- · Irvine North Ayrshire
- · Forres Enterprise Park Highland
- · BioQuarter Edinburgh
- · Inverness Campus Highland
- · BioCampus Midlothian
- · BioCity North Lanarkshire

Low Carbon / Renewables North Enterprise Area

- · Nigg Highland
- · Hatston Orkney
- · Scrabster Highland
- · Arnish Western Isles
- · Lyness Orkney

Low Carbon / Renewables East Enterprise Area

- · Dundee Port Dundee
- · Dundee Claverhouse Dundee
- · Leith Port Edinburgh

General Manufacturing / Growth Sectors Enterprise Area

- Creative Clyde Glasgow creative industries
- Prestwick South Ayrshire aerospace
- · West Lothian Broxburn food and drink manufacturing
- West Lothian Eliburn Livingston food and drink manufacturing

Tailored incentives are available to businesses in Enterprise Areas, in addition to either business rates discounts or (in the case of Nigg, Irvine, Dundee Port and Dundee Claverhouse), enhanced capital allowances.

Additional incentives include:

- · a streamlined planning process
- · high-speed broadband
- international promotion and marketing provided by Scottish Development International (SDI)
- skills and training support provided by Skills Development Scotland.

Other Programmes

The economic development landscape is complex and, as new challenges, and our understanding of them, changes, so does the support available. As an illustration of this, it is perhaps worth considering the GRANT finder grants and policy database, that SPICe subscribes to. Although the database is often used by charities and voluntary sector organisations to source funds, it also includes a range of sources for business support.

In fact, a search of the database identifies between 4,000 and 5,000 different sources of "business support". Around half of these come from the government, whilst the remaining are from either lottery, charitable or corporate sources. Support is also split between that available at local, regional, national level or Europe wide. Around 700 of the business support sources are for "financial assistance", with the remaining including support for areas such as marketing, innovation and start-up development.

Bearing in mind the complexity of the landscape, this briefing covers some of the more notable economic development programmes, and so provide a flavour of the range of activity that is underway, and indeed continues to change.

- 1. Green Jobs Fund (£100m over five years)
- 2. National Manufacturing Institute (£75m)
- 3. Women's enterprise (£50m)
- 4. Tech scalar hubs (£30m.

Green Jobs Fund

The Programme for Government (September 2020) indicates that a "Green Jobs Fund" will involve £100 million over five years, and includes:

- Allocating £50m to the enterprise network (Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise and South of Scotland Enterprise) "to help businesses which provide sustainable and/or low carbon products and services to develop, grow and create jobs."
- Allocating the remaining £50 million on activities to "support businesses and supply chains across a range of sectors - such as manufacturing, tech, and land-based organisations"

In March 2021, Scottish Enterprise said ³⁶ that a "green jobs call" (or funding round) would open to applications on 18th May, with grants from £50,000 to £500,000 being awarded on a competitive basis. £8m of the Green Jobs fund is being used in Scottish Enterprise's green calls over the course of 2021/22. This first call is open for applications until 24 June 2021, is worth £4 million, and will support projects that:

- create green jobs (these are new jobs that relate directly to the transition to net zero) or facilitate the transition of a job from non-green to green
- minimise environmental impacts by developing sustainable low carbon products or services

A written answer (answered 1 July 2021) indicated that the first round of awards were expected to be made in September 2021, whilst the Programme for Government (2021/22) said that

"This year, we will make the first payments from the Green Jobs Fund,"

National Manufacturing Institute

The National Manufacturing Institute Scotland (NMIS) is one of a number of initiatives under the umbrella of the recovery plan for manufacturing (June 2020) ³⁷. The recovery plan looks across the board at collaboration and networks; supply chains and competitiveness; adaptation and transformation; and skills and workforce.

The NMIS itself is intended to be "an industry-led international centre of manufacturing expertise. It hosts manufacturing research and development facilities "transforming skills, productivity and innovation, helping to make Scotland a global leader in advanced

manufacturing."

The core facilities are based at the new Advanced Manufacturing Innovation District Scotland (AMIDS) at Netherton Farm, Renfrewshire. It is operated by the University of Strathclyde and supported by Scottish Government, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, High-Value Manufacturing Catapult, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Funding Council and Renfrewshire Council.

The Lightweight Manufacturing Centre was the first phase of the NMIS, and focuses on working with and developing novel lightweight solutions to help manufacturing businesses tackle a variety of challenges.

The University of Strathclyde's Advanced Forming Research Centre (AFRC) is a specialist technology centre within the National Manufacturing Institute Scotland.

In September 2021, the NMIS reported its central facility had reached

" a major milestone with the installation of 1,500 tonnes of structural steel now complete and the building on schedule to open in Autumn 2022."

Women's Business Centre

Following the Scottish parliamentary elections, the First Minister set out the priorities of the Scottish Government 38 , and said

"We will support women entrepreneurs with £50 million of funding for a women's business centre."

Women's Enterprise Scotland currently runs a Women Business Centre. It is run by "a team of women who want to use their own business experience to help others achieve their business aspirations.

Technology hubs (or Tech Scalars)

The Scottish Government asked Mark Logan (former Skyscanner executive and professor of computing science at the University of Glasgow) to review the technology ecosystem 8 . He reported in August 2020 and the report suggested that Scotland's tech sector need to pass through

"a "tipping-point" in its development, which is the point at which the ecosystem hosts a critical mass of viable start-ups and scale-ups. At this point, several virtuous network effects start to spontaneously operate to continually strengthen the ecosystem without further intervention being required"

Scotland is however currently deemed to be "pre tipping point", and the report identified 34 actions, which can be summarised under the following headings:

- Building a tech scalar backbone
- Developing a foundational Talent Pipeline

- Strengthening Social Infrastructure and Establishing and International Market square
- Building Integrated Ecosystem grant funding
- · New proposals for investment funding

The Scottish Government committed to implementing the report's recommendations 39 .

As part of this the Scottish Government reported ⁴⁰ (September 2020) it was establishing a network of technology hubs, known as tech scalers, which it is hoped "will deliver world-class training and mentoring for technology entrepreneurs while providing opportunities to network and share ideas." The plan is that there should be five scalers in place by 2022, and that "at least 300 high-quality start-ups" would be generated over the next five years.

In March 2021, Mark Logan was asked to oversee the work to deliver the tech scalar hubs. Initially, this will include a £1 million Ecosystem Fund which is expected to open for applications in summer 2021 ⁴¹

Bibliography

- Audit Scotland. (2016, July 14). Supporting Scotland's economic growth: The role of the Scottish Government and its economic development agencies. Retrieved from https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/supporting-scotland%E2%80%99s-economic-growth-the-role-of-the-scottish-government-and-its-economic [accessed 15 June 2021]
- Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990. (1990, July 11). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/35/contents [accessed 22 June 2021]
- ³ Clelland, D. (2020). Beyond the city region? Uneven governance and the evolution of regional economic development in Scotland.. *Local Economy*, *35*(1), 7-26.
- Scottish Parliament . (2007, September 26). Official Report (Enterprise Networks). Retrieved from http://archive2021.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/ report.aspx?r=4743 [accessed 24 June 2021]
- Scottish Enterprise. (2021, May). 2021/22 Business Plan. Retrieved from https://www.scottish-enterprise.com/media/4008/se-business_plan_may_2021.pdf [accessed 24 June 2021]
- Scottish Government . (2020, June 22). Towards a Robust, Resilient Wellbeing Economy for Scotland: Report of the Advisory Group on Economic Recovery. Retrieved from https://webarchive.nrscotland.gov.uk/20210821081540/https://www.gov.scot/publications/towards-robust-resilient-wellbeing-economy-scotland-report-advisory-group-economic-recovery/ [accessed 9 September 2021]
- Scottish Government . (2020, July 3). Coronavirus (COVID-19): measures to mitigate the labour market impacts - report. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/publications/reportenterprise-skills-strategic-board-sub-group-measures-mitigate-labour-market-impactscovid-19/ [accessed 24 June 2021]
- Scottish Government. (2020, August 25). Scottish technology ecosystem: review. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-technology-ecosystem-review/ [accessed 20 June 2021]
- 9 BBC. (2019, June 11). Scottish Enterprise to focus on 'quality' jobs. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-scotland-scotland-business-48592381 [accessed 24 June 2021]
- Highlands and Islands Enterprise . (2021, June 1). Operating Plan 2021. Retrieved from https://www.hie.co.uk/media/10740/hie-operating-plan-2021-final.pdf [accessed 24 June 2021]
- Scottish Government . (2017, June). Enterprise and Skills Review: Report on Phase 2 South of Scotland Enterprise Agency. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/progress-report/2017/06/enterprise-skills-review-report-phase-2-south-scotland-enterprise-agency/documents/00521448-pdf/00521448-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00521448.pdf [accessed 22 June 2021]

- Enterprise and entrepreneurship on islands and remote rural environments. (2017). *The International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation.*, 18(1), 25-35. doi: 10.1177/1465750316686237
- South of Scotland Enterprise Act 2019. (2019, July). Retrieved from https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2019/9/enacted [accessed 22 June 2021]
- South of Scotland Enterprise . (2021, May). Operating Plan 2021/22. Retrieved from https://www.southofscotlandenterprise.com/media/1254/sose_operatingplan21_2-002.pdf [accessed 24 June 2021]
- SLAED. (2019, May). Strategic Plan 2019-2022. Retrieved from http://www.slaed.org.uk/documents/SLAED-strategic-plan-2019-22.pdf [accessed 22 June 2021]
- SLAED. (2021, January). Scottish Local Authorities Economic Development Indicators Framework Report 2019-20. Retrieved from http://www.slaed.org.uk/documents/SLAED-indicators-report-2019-20.pdf [accessed 22 June 2021]
- Improvement Service. (2021). Local Government Benchmarking Framework, How much does my council invest in economic development and tourism (£ per 1000 people)?. Retrieved from https://www.improvementservice.org.uk/benchmarking/explore-the-data [accessed 24 June 2021]
- Economy, Energy, and Fair Work Committee. (2019, February 20). Business Support (SP Paper 470, 2nd Report 2019, Session 5). Retrieved from https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/EEFW/2019/2/20/Business-Support-1
- Scottish Centre for Regional Inclusive Growth (SCRIG). (2019, April). Regional Economic Partnerships. Retrieved from https://www.inclusivegrowth.scot/our-work/regional-economic-partnerships/2019/04/regional-economic-partnerships/ [accessed 21 June 2021]
- SPICe Spotlight . (2020, September). Nearing 'go' on the Scottish National Investment Bank (SNIB). Retrieved from https://spice-spotlight.scot/2020/09/03/nearing-go-on-the-scottish-national-investment-bank-snib/ [accessed 21 June 2021]
- 21 Enterprise and Lifelong Learning Committee. (1999, December 15). Inquiry into the Delivery of Local Economic Development Services in Scotland Interim Conclusions. Retrieved from http://archive.scottish.parliament.uk/business/committees/historic/x-enterprise/reports-99/elrled1.htm#intro [accessed 21 June 2021]
- Scottish Parliament, Economy, Energy, and Fair Work Committee. (2021, March 24). Economy, Energy and Fair Work Committee Legacy Report. Retrieved from https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/Committees/Report/EEFW/2021/3/24/a040dd9c-ffd3-4674-9606-84a01d1be565# [accessed 22 June 2021]
- SPICe Spotlight. (2019, July 3). Evolution and dilution in devolution: economic policy in Scotland. Retrieved from https://spice-spotlight.scot/2019/07/03/evolution-and-dilution-indevolution-economic-policy-in-scotland/ [accessed 24 June 2021]

- Bachtler, J. (2021). Brexit and Regional Development in the UK: What future for regional policy after the structural funds?. Retrieved from https://archive2021.parliament.scot/S5_EconomyJobsFairWork/Inquiries/20180511-John_Bachtler-Brexit and regional development.pdf [accessed 19 June 2021]
- Thom, I. (2019, April 10). EU Structural Funds in Scotland. Retrieved from https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2019/4/10/EU-Structural-Funds-in-Scotland#What-are-structural-funds-
- Thom, I. (2021, January 26). What will replace EU structural funds in Scotland after Brexit?. Retrieved from https://spice-spotlight.scot/2021/01/26/what-will-replace-eu-structural-funds-in-scotland-after-brexit/
- Scottish Parliament, Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee. (2018, October 3). European Structural and Investment Funds Inquiry. Retrieved from https://archive2021.parliament.scot/S5_EconomyJobsFairWork/Inquiries/Letter to Minister and Final ESIF findings.pdf [accessed 19 June 2021]
- Scottish Government. (2020, November 19). Scottish Replacement For EU Structural Funds. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-replacement-eu-structural-funds/pages/1/ [accessed 19 June 2021]
- UK Government: HM Treasury. (2020, December 15). Spending Review 2020. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-2020-documents/spending-review-2020#investing-in-a-recovery-for-all-regions-of-the-uk-1 [accessed 19 June 2021]
- 30 UK government: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. (2021, May 11). Community Renewal Fund: Prospectus 2021-22. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/uk-community-renewal-fund-prospectus/uk-community-renewalfund-prospectus-2021-22#administering-the-fund-process-and-selection [accessed 19 June 2021]
- 31 McKee, I. (2021, March 4). Evidence to House of Commons Scottish Affairs Committee on Scotland and the Shared Prosperity Fund. Retrieved from https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/1790/pdf/ [accessed 19 June 2021]
- 32 Gateway Review One. (2020, May). Retrieved from https://glasgowcityregion.co.uk/city-deal/evaluation-and-monitoring/gateway-review-one/
- Rush, K. (2020, June). Director's Blog. Retrieved from https://glasgowcityregion.co.uk/gateway-review-success-and-the-next-five-years/ [accessed 20 June 2021]
- Matheson, M. (2020, October 29). Update to Convenor of the Local Government and Communities Committee, on recent progress across the Scottish City Region and Regional Growth Deals programme. Retrieved from https://archive2021.parliament.scot/ S5 Local Gov/20201029MMtocon.pdf [accessed 19 June 2021]
- Scottish Government . (2021, June 23). Infrastructure Investment Plan 2015: progress report for 2020 to 2021. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-infrastructure-investment-plan-2015-progress-report-2020-21/pages/17/ [accessed 28 June 2021]

- Scottish Enterprise. (2021, March 22). Scottish Enterprise to make £4 million available for green jobs. Retrieved from https://www.scottish-enterprise-mediacentre.com/news/scottish-enterprise-to-make-gbp-4-million-available-for-green-jobs [accessed 20 June 2021]
- 37 Scottish Government. (2021, June 3). Making Scotland's future a recovery plan for manufacturing: June 2021 - final. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/publications/makingscotlands-future-recovery-plan-manufacturing-final-june-2021/ [accessed 20 June 2021]
- Sturgeon, N. (2021, May 26). Scottish Government Priorities. Retrieved from https://www.parliament.scot/chamber-and-committees/what-was-said-and-official-reports/ what-was-said-in-parliament/meeting-ofparliament-26-05-2021?meeting=13229&iob=119841 [accessed 20 June 2021]
- Forbes, K. (2020, September 1). Statement to parliament: Logan Review (Technology Sector). Retrieved from http://archive2021.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12779 [accessed 20 June 2021]
- Scottish Government. (2020, September 1). Building the next generation of start-ups. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/news/building-the-next-generation-of-start-ups/ [accessed 20 June 2021]
- 41 Scottish Government. (2021, March 24). Accelerating Scotland's tech-led recovery. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/news/accelerating-scotlands-tech-led-recovery/ [accessed 20 June 2021]

Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe) Briefings are compiled for the benefit of the Members of the Parliament and their personal staff. Authors are available to discuss the contents of these papers with MSPs and their staff who should contact Alison O'Connor on telephone number 85086 or alison.oconnor@parliament.scot, Simon Wakefield on telephone number 85372 or simon.wakefield@parliament.scot.

Members of the public or external organisations may comment on this briefing by emailing us at SPICe@parliament.scot. However, researchers are unable to enter into personal discussion in relation to SPICe Briefing Papers. If you have any general questions about the work of the Parliament you can email the Parliament's Public Information Service at sp.info@parliament.scot. Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in SPICe briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to reflect subsequent changes.

